I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The Appellant 4518 S. 256'h LLC petitions this Court to accept 

review of the published decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I that is 

designated in Pmi II of this petition for review. 

II. COURT Ol' APPEALS DECISION 

In its August 15, 2016 published opinion, the Court of Appeals, 

Division I denied the Appellant's arguments on review regarding whether 

acceleration occurs by operation oflaw through nonjudicial foreclosure on 

an obligation secured by a Deed of Trust. A copy of the opinion is attached 

hereto as Appendix A. The Appellant seeks review of this opinion. 

Ill. ISSUE PRESENTED l'OR REVIEW 

Whether, when a lender invokes the power of sale through a 

statutory nonjudicial foreclosure pursuant to RCW 61.24 et seq., 

acceleration of the entire debt occurs through operation of law as clearly 

and unequivocally stated in the statutory language? YES. 

Whether the six-year statute of limitations expires when a lender 

invokes the power of sale (and thereby accelerates the entire debt) but fails 

to petfect its right to sell the property within the six-year period? YES. 
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IV. STATEMENTOFTHECASE 

A. Original Debt Obligation. 

Appellant 4518 S. 2561h, LLC ("the LLC") is a Nevada limited 

liability company and, prior to fmeclosure sale, the owner of the real 

property located at 4518 S. 256'h Place, Kent, Washington 98032 (the 

"Property"). CP 1. The LLC acquired its interest pursuant to a Quitclaim 

Deed from predecessors in title Teodoro A. Puebla and Elizabeth Villalovos 

(collectively refened to herein as "Puebla"). CP 4. 

In May 2006 Puebla executed a promissory note pursuant to an 

obligation incmTed with regard to the Prope1iy. CP 7-8. The note was 

secured by a Deed of Trust recorded on May 31, 2006. CP 8. 

On or about July 10,2008 a Notice of Default ("NOD") was issued 

to Puebla. On or about August 9, 2008 the Trustee issued a Notice of 

Trustee's Sale ("NTS") alleging thatPuebla was in default and announcing 

the sale of the Property. !d. See also CP 12-16. The NTS was dated August 

9, 2008. I d. The sale scheduled for November 14, 2008 did not occur. 

On or about November 21, 2011, the Trustee filed a Notice of 

Discontinuance of Trustee's Sale. CP 18. Nearly three years would pass 

before any fmther action would be taken by the Trustee. 
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B. Lender's Recent Efforts to Foreclose Pursuant to Deed of Trust. 

On October 21, 2014, a second NOD was issued to Puebla. On 

January 29, 2015 the Trustee issued another NTS announcing that the sale 

would occur on June 12, 2015. CP 20-23. The NTS was recorded on 

February 2, 2015. I d. The NTS demanded payment of amounts due from 

January 1, 2008 through January 1, 2015, confinning that at no point dming 

the six-year pendency period was the arrearage ever brought current. I d. 

Below is a summary of the relevant dates: 

07.10.2008 
1st - Notice of Default 

1st - Notice of Trustee's S August 15, 
08.09.2008 2008) 

11.21.2011 
Discontinuation Of Trustee's Sale 

I 0.21.2014 
Default 

01.29.2015 2nd- Notice Sale 02.02.20 

For more than six years from acceleration of the maturity date as 

indicated by the NTS (i.e., August 9, 2008), the Trustee and Beneficim·y 

failed to preserve their claims. Therefore, pursuant to RCW 4.16.040, the 

statute oflimitations expired, barring the Respondents' claims. 
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C. Procedural History. 

On June 5, 2015 a Stipulated Order Restraining Trustee's Sale was 

entered by the commissioner restraining the sale until further Order of the 

Court. 

On July 31, 2015 the trial court heard cross-summary judgment 

motions. The issue before the court on both motions was whether the debt 

obligation evidenced by the note and secured by the Deed of Trust had been 

accelerated, triggering the nmning and expiration of the statute of 

limitations. CP 89-101; see also CP 25-41. The court denied the LLC's 

motion and granted the Respondents' motion, thereby dismissing the LLC's 

civil action. CP 184-186. The court further awarded the Respondents their 

attorneys' fees. CP 228. 

The LLC appealed the court's decision to the Court of Appeals, 

Division L The Court of Appeals affitmed the comi's decision in a 

published decision released on August 15, 2016. The LLC hereby 

respectfully requests this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' 

opinion because the decision presents an issue of substantial public 

importance that should be determined by this Court, namely, whether a 

lender may avail itself of the benefits associated with nonjudicial 

Jbreclosure without accelerating the obligation. 
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V. ARGUMENT 

The Court of Appeals' opinion overlooks the plain language of the 

Deed of Trust statute, fails to read portions of the statute in context, and 

ignores the only reasonable and complete interpretation of the statute with 

regard to acceleration and the power of sale. As a result, the Court's 

interpretation of the statutmy language creates unnecessary ambiguity and 

confusion for the borrower and lender alike, and leads to absurd results. 

The Court of Appeals argues that acceleration of the entire 

obligation is not a prerequisite to the nonjudicial foreclosure process; 

however, inevitably the property is sold to pay off the entire debt secured 

by the Deed of Trust. As discussed in depth below, an acceleration must 

have happened for this result to occur. 

A. Acceleration and Installment Contracts. 

Typically, claims based on written contracts must be commenced no 

later than six years after breach or the claims are barred. See RCW 4.16.040. 

With installment contracts, "[a] separate cause of action arises on each 

installment, and the statute of limitations runs separately against each .... " 

See 31 Richard A. Lord, WILLISTON ON CONTRACTS § 79:17, at 338 (4th 

ed.2004); see also 25 David K. Dewolf, Keller W. Allen & Darlene Barrier 

Caruso, WASHINGTON PRACTICE: CONTRACT LAW AND PRACTICE§ !6:20, 

at 196 (2012-13 Supp.) ("Where a contract calls for payment of an 
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obligation by installments, the statute of limitations begins to run for each 

installment at the time such payment is due"). See also Hassler v. Account 

Brokers o(Larimer County. Inc., 274 P.3d 547, 553 (Colo.2012); and Bay 

Area Laundry & Dry Cleaning Pension Trust Fund v. Fer bar Corp. o( Cal., 

522 U.S. 192, 208-09, 118 S.Ct. 542, 139 L.Ed.2d 553 (1997). 

However, if the obligation pursuant to an installment contract is 

accelerated either automatically by the tenns of the agreement or by the 

election of the creditor pursuant to an optional acceleration clause- the 

entire remaining balance becomes due and payable immediately. This 

triggers the statute of limitations for all installments that had not previously 

become due. See 31 Richard A Lord, supra,§ 79:17, at 338; § 79:18, at 

347-50; 12 AM.JUR.2D, BILLS &NOTES§ 581. 

Loans secured by Deeds of Trusts are usually installment contracts, 

as in the instant case. The lender has six years fi·om the default of each 

installment within which to bring a claim. On a traditional 30-year 

mortgage, therefore, the statute of limitations could potentially stretch out 

for a 36-year period (i.e., six. years after the last installment was due). 

However, if an acceleration occurs at during the pendency of the Joan such 

that the entire amolmt due is then payable, the six-year statute oflimitations 

begins running from that point. 
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B. Contrary to the Court of Appeals' decision, Washington's Deed 
of Trust Act incorporates acceleration as pa1·t of the power of 
sale in a nonjudicial foreclosure. 

The Court of Appeals' ruling which states that there is no automatic 

acceleration upon invocation of the power of sale is erroneous and, more 

problematic, establishes case law that will be damaging for both lenders and 

bonowers moving forward. The Court of Appeals argues that the power to 

accelerate and the power of sale are two separate options to be exercised by 

the lender at its discretion. However, the statutory language inextricably 

ties acceleration and sale together such that acceleration occurs by operation 

oflaw no later than eleven days before the sale date. 

The statute itself indicates that an acceleration had to have taken 

place more than six years prior to, the commencement of the most recent 

foreclosure by the Respondents, thus batTing any foreclosure (and making 

the foreclosure wrongful) by application of the statute of limitations. 

First, the Deed of Trust, which includes the mandatory statutory 

language, states at Paragraph 22: 

22. Acceleration; Remedies. Lender shall give notice to 
Borrower prior to acceleration following Borrower's breach 
of any covenant or agreement in this Security Instrument 
(but not prior to acceleration under Section 18 unless 
Applicable Law provides otherwise). The notice shall 
specify: (a) the default; (b) the action required to cure the 
default; (c) a date, not less than 30 days from the date the 
notice is given to Borrower, by which the default must be 
cured; and (d) that failure to cure the default on or before the 



date specified in the notice may result in acceleration of 
the sums secured by this Security Instrument and sale of 
the P1·opertv at public auction at a date not less than 120 
days in the future. Tl1e notice shall further inform 
Borrower of the right to reinstate after acceleration, the 
right to bring a cmnt action to assett the non-existence of a 
default or any other defense of Borrower to acceleration 
and sale, and any other matters required to be included in 
the notice by Applicable Law. If the default is not cured 
on or before the date specified in the notice, Lender at its 
option, may require immediate payment in full of all 
sums secured by this Security Instrument without 
further demand and may invoke the power of sale and/or 
any other remedies permitted by Applicable Law. Lender 
shall be entitled to collect all expenses incuned in pursuing 
the remedies provided in this Section 22, including, but not 
limited to, reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of title 
evidence. 

If Lender invokes the power of sale, Lender shall give 
Wlitten notice to Trustee of the occun-ence of an event of 
default and of Lender's election to cause the Propetty to be 
sold. Trustee and Lender shall take such action regarding 
notice of sale and shall give such notices to Borrower and to 
other persons as Applicable Law may require. After the time 
required by Applicable Law ru1d after publication of the 
notice of sale, Trustee, without demand on Bon·ower, shall 
sell the Property at public auction to the highest bidder at the 
time and place and under the tenus designated in the notice 
of sale in one or more parcels and in any order Trustee 
determines. Trustee may postpone sale of the Property for a 
period or periods permitted by Applicable Law by public 
announcement at the time l)l}d place fixed in the notice of 
sale. Lender or its desigtiee may purchase the Property at 
any sale. 

Trustee shall deliver to the purchaser Trustee's deed 
conveying the Property without any covenant or wan-anty, 
expressed or implied. The recitals in the Trustee's deed shall 
be ptima Jacie evidence of the-truth of the statements made 
therein. Trustee shall apply the proceeds of the sale in the 
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following order: (a) to all expenses of the sale, including, but 
not limited to, reasonable Trustee's and attorneys' fees; (b) 
to all sums secured by this Security Instmment; and (c) any 
excess to the person or persons legally entitled to it or to the 
clerk of the superior court of the county in which the sale 
took place. 

CP 116 (emphasis added). 

The Deed of Trust, paragraph 22, references various notices to the 

bolTower. The initial notice is the NOD, required pursuant to RCW 

61.24.030. The NOD, which also includes statutory language, presumes 

that if the default is not cured an acceleration will occur. Specifically, "The 

notice shall further inform Bon;ower of the tight to reinstate after 

acceleration[.]" CP 116 (emphasis added). 

Thereafter, Paragraph 22 indicates that if the default is not cured the 

lender "may require immediate payment in full of all sums secured by this 

Security Instrument without further demand and may invoke the power of 

sale." The use of the term "and" is significant, as courts presume that "and" 

functions conjunctively. Statev. Kozey, 183 Wash. App. 692, 698,334 P.3d 

1170, 1173 (2014) review denied, 182 Wash. 2d 1007, 342 P.3d 327 (2015). 

The Comi of Appeals m•gues that in cetiain circum stances, "and" may mean 

"or" depending on the context. Even iftrue, in the case of Paragraph 22, the 

context makes it abundantly clear. that the power of acceleration and sale 

are linked together as one option. In fact, "acceleration" and "sale" are 
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linked together in the statutory language more than once, making it clear 

that acceleration must occur prior to sale. The statutory language states that 

failure to cure "may result in acceleration of the sums secured by this 

Security Instrument and sale of the Property." CP 116 (emphasis 

added), The statute also states that the bmTower must be notified of the 

right to bring a comi action to asse1i defenses "to acceleration and sale". 

CP 116 (emphasis added). In each instance in Paragraph 22, "acceleration" 

precedes "sale" - in that order. There is no instance where the statute 

reverses the order: it is always "acceleration" then "sale". The clear and 

unequivocal meaning t!·om this language is that "and" means "and" (not 

"or") and that when a nonjudicial sale occurs, acceleration must have 

occurred by operation of law. 

By definition, the "immediate payment in full of all sums secured 

by this Security Instrument" is an acceleration (i.e., all payments become 

immediately due and payable). So, stated differently, when a default is not 

cured, the Lender has the option to accelerate and invoke the power of sale. 

Paragraph 22 does 110t contemplate any scenario where the lender can 

invoke the power of sale without acceleration. 

The statutory scheme whereby acceleration occurs by operation of 

law is further evidenced in the NTS. In fact, the NTS triggers, by law, 

10 



acceleration. The Com1 of Appeal's analysis with regard to this pm1icular 

notice is pa11icularly enoneous. 

The NTS, which in this instm1ce was dated August 9, 2008, states 

that "A written notice of default was transmitted by the Beneficiary or 

Tl'Ustee to the Bonower and Grantor [ ... ] on July 10, 2008." CP 14. 

Through the NTS the lender invoked the power of sale and scheduled the 

trustee's sale to occur on November 14, 2008. CP 12-16. This occurs 

through specific language in the notice: 

TI1e sale may be tenninated any time after 11/03/2008 (11 
days before the sale date), and before the sale by the 
Bonower, Grantor, and Gum·antor or the holder of m1y 
recorded junior lien or encumbrance paying tile entire 
balance of principal and interest secm·ed by tile Deed of 
Trust, plus costs, fees, and advances, if aJiy made pursuant 
to the terms of the obligation and/or Deed of Trust. 

CP 14 (emphasis added). 

The Court of Appeals stated that there was no clear aJid unequivocal 

evidence of acceleration; however, the NTS provides exactly that. 

Paragraph Ill of the NTS sets out the amount due from the bonower as a 

result of the default (in this case, $16,297.38). CP 13. Paragraph IV states 

that "[t]he sum owing on the obligation secured by the Deed of Trust is: 

Principal Balance of$255,932.00, together with interest ... and such other 

costs m1d fees as are due .... " CP 14. Pm·agraph V states that the property 

"will be sold to satisfy the expense of the sale and the obligation secured by 
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the Deed of Trust as provided by statute." !d. This paragraph continues, 

noting that the sale will occur on November 14,2008. !d. The borrower is 

advised, in the language quoted above, that the sale will be discontinued 

and terminated if at any time at least 11 days before the sale date the 

borrower pays "the entire balance of pl'lncipal and interest secured by 

the Deed of Trust, plus costs, fees, and advances, .. " Id. What is evident 

by the statutory language in Paragraph V of the NTS is that, once the 11-

day threshold has been reached, the lender has accelerated the obligation. 

At that point, the sale of the prope1ty can only be discontinued if the entire 

balance is paid. 

The Cou1t of Appeals (and the Respondents) argue that the NTS 

establishes that only the arearage amount is sought by the lender (i.e., 

Paragraph Ill). However, that is only accurate up until 11 days before the 

foreclosure sale. At that peint, the obligation is clearly an unequivocally 

accelerated because only payment of the "entire balance of principal and 

interest" can stop the sale. As such, this is a clear and unequivocal 

acceleration of the obligation prior to the maturity date, and it occurs as a 

matter of law, pursuant to the statWpry language. 

It is notable that, upon sale of the property (as is the case with all 

foreclosure sales as a general rule), the lender does not recover only the 

$16,297.38 in arrears but, instead, recovers the entire balance due on the 
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obligation, plus costs and fees- because an acceleration has occurred. 

This is discussed in more detail below. 

The Court of Appeals failed to address Paragraph V of the NTS or 

the language contained in that paragraph that states unequivocally that 

within II days of the sale an acceleration occurs by operation oflaw. The 

Court of Appeals failed to address the fact that, although Paragraph III of 

the NTS lists only the atTearage, Paragraph V indicates that the entire 

balance of the obligation will be due prior to the sale. The NTS, which 

contains mandatory statutory language from the Deed of Trust Act, is the 

clear and unequivocal notice to the bon·ower that an acceleration has 

occurred. 

C. Acceleration in the Context of Washington Statutory Language. 

RCW 61.24.090 offers additional guidance as to when acceleration 

takes place. RCW 61.24.090(1) mentions reinstatement of an·ears (as 

opposed to the entire balance due under the obligation) any time up to the 

11th day before the sale date as follows: 

(I) At any time prior to the eleventh day before the date 
set by the trustee for the sale in the recorded notice of 
sale, or in the event , 'the trustee continues the sale 
pursuant to RCW 61.24.040(6), at any time prior to the 
eleventh day before the actual sale, the bonower, 
grantor, any guarantor, any beneficiary under a 
subordinate deed of trust, or allY person having a 
subordinate lien or encumbratlce of record on the trust 
property or any part thereof, shall be entitled to cause a 
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' -\. 

discontinuance of the sale proceedings by curing the 
default or defaults set forth in the notice, which in the 
case of a default by failure to pay, shall be by paying 
to the trustee: 

(a) The entire amount tben due under the terms 
of the deed of trust and the obligation secured 
thereby, other than such portion of the principal 
as would not then be due had no default occurred, 

See RCYV 61.24.090(l)(a) (emphasis added). 

Thereafter, RCW 61.24.090(3) states that, "[u]pon receipt of such 

payment the proceedings shall be discontinued, the deed of trust shall be 

reinstated and the obligation shall remain as though no acceleration had 

taken place." See RCW 61.24.090(3)(emphasis added). The Court of 

Appeals failed to address why the statutory language references an 

acceleration which must have occurred, if such an acceleration does not 

occur unless the lender makes that election. In fact, the statute presumes 

the acceleration "had taken place" before the grantor's reinstatement. As 

stated above, reinstatement means payment of the arrears on or before the 

eleventh (11 '11) day prior to the trustee's sale. 

The statutory framework S,\Jt out in the Deed of Tmst Act must be 

read cohesively and in doing so, the only reasonable interpretation is that 

acceleration and sale occur in tandem. The statute gives the lender the 

option to accelerate.!!!!.!! invoke the power of sale after an uncured default. 

The invocation of the power of sale presumes an acceleration. Additionally, 
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RCW 61.24.090(3) presumes acceleration because the payment referenced 

in RCW 61.24.090(1) cures the default "as though no acceleration had 

taken place." 

D. The Court of Appeals' el'l'oneous decision would create a 36-
year statute of limitations for most loans under the Deed of 
Trust Act. 

As discussed above, in the instant case, the acceleration occmTed in 

conjunction with the NTS recorded on August 9, 2008. The Trustee's sale 

scheduled for November 14, 2008 never happened. Instead, a Notice of 

Discontinuance ofTmstce's Sale was filed on November 21,2011. CP 18. 

No further action was taken against the Property or the bonowers until the 

recent NOD and NTS which occuned more than six years after August 9, 

2008 (the date of acceleration of the underlying obligation).1 

The NTS dated January 29, 2015 specifically indicates that the 

default extends from January I, 2008 through January 2, 2015, thereby 

confi1ming that at no point during the six-year pendency was the 

arrearage brought current. At t\l,is point, the statute should have run and 

any claims by the lender should be baned. However, the Court of Appeals' 

decision ignores the clear and unequivocal notice of acceleration and, by 

that Court's analysis, the lender would have up to 36 years within which to 

1 Or more six years af!el' "the entire amount" was due (beginning November 4, 2008). 
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bring a claim - an absurd result that defies the rationale behind a statute of 

limitation and all concepts of substantial justice. 

E. The Court of Appeals' decision ignores that as part of the 
nonjudicial foreclosure sale the lender recovers the entire 
balance due on the obligation, not only the arrearage. 

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals discusses at length the fact that 
' ' ' ' ~ " ' -' 

a lender has several options under the Deed of Trust Act, which is conect. 

However, the Court of Appeals' analysis adds an option to the lender's 

arsenal that is without support under the law- the option to sell the prope1iy 

(the security) without accelerating the loan. The ramifications from this 

holding are seriously flawed and lead to a number of absurd results. 

As the Comt of Appeals (and the Respondents) noted, the ~UTearage 

in the instant case was approximately $16,297.38 at the time the NTS was 

recorded in 2008. The Respondents have stated that the property was sold 

at a foreclosure sale on September 4, 2015 for $251,921.00. See 

Re1.1Jondents MERS and BONY's Answering Brief page 9. As of June 2015, 

.. ''''"· 

the total amount due and owing to bring the loan current was $181,734.02. 

CP 149. At the time of the sale, the outstanding principal balance on the 

obligation was $255,932.00. Id. If, as the Court of Appeals argues, there 

has been no acceleration of the entire obligation, the lender would only be 

entitled to recover $181,734.02 fi:om the sale of the property- there is no 

authority for the lender to recover the entire balance due on the loan absent 
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an acceleration. Undoubtedly, however- as happens in every foreclosure 

sale, the lender was paid the full principal due as well as all costs associated 

with the nonjudicial foreclosure. 

This result is patently unfair to the boJTower and perpetuates the 

ambiguity as to whether an a~~eleration ever occurs prior to sale. 

Furthermore, it results in potential claims. For example, since tl1ere is no 

authority for the lender to recover the entire balance from the sale proceeds 

(since there has been no acceleration), does this create a claim against the 

lender for those amounts paid from the sale over and above the actual 

arrearage? The Court of Appeals' holding at minimnm implies that every 

lender that has availed itself of tlw entire balance from the proceeds of a 

nonjudicial foreclosure sale has done so wrongfully- since there has been 

no acceleration of the debt. 

The Court of Appeals' decision does a disservice to lenders. In fact, 

the Court of Appeals' decision opens up an avenue to borrowers under 

which they may bring claims against lenders who have received more than 

just the arrearage from the sale proceeds. Certainly, the CoUJi of Appeals 

cannot mean that the lender (who, arguably according to the Court has not 

accelerated the obligation) is entitled to the entire principal balance on an 

obligation evidenced by an installment contract, without first accelerating 

the maturity date. Such a ruling would be unprecedented - there is no 
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authority to support a lender's rigl1t to the entire obligation on an installment 

contract without acceleration. This would fly in the face of well established 

Washington law. However, the Court of Appeals offers no alternative 

explanation as to how, without acceleration, the lender is entitled to 

anything but the amount in aiTearage at the time of sale. 

The Respondents have stated that the lender has never demanded the 

entire balance of the obligation ti·om the bo!Tower. With this admission, the 

lender must then surely agree that it is only entitled to the arrearage at the 

time of sale- and is not entitled to the entire balance of the obligation. Yet, 

the lender has availed itself of more than the arrearage from the sale 

proceeds, upon information and belief. 

Paragraph 22 of the Deed of Trust specifically instructs the Trustee 

to apply the proceeds of the sale "to all sums secured by this Security 

Instrument": 

Trustee shall apply the proceeds of the sale in the following 
mder: (a) to all expenses of the sale, including, but not 
limited to, reasonable Trustee's and attorneys' fees; (b) to all 
sums secured by this Security lnstmment; and (c) any excess 
to the person or persons legally entitled to it or to the clerk 
of the superior court of the county in which the sale took 
place. 

CP 116. 

This language can mem1 only one of two things. Either (as must be 

the case) an acceleration has occurred prior to the sale or, altematively, the 
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lender is hereby pennitted to recover the entire amount of the debt prior to 

the maturity date, without acceleration. The second option simply cannot 

be the case, as there is no authority under statutory or common law 

pem1itting a lender to recover the entire obligation without acceleration. 

Accordingly, the instructions to the Trustee as to the disbursement of the 

sale proceeds is further confinnation of the fact that acceleration occurred 

by operation of law prior to the sale. The Comi of Appeals fails to address 

this language, in its decision. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

The Court of Appeals' published decision holding that a lender need 

never accelerate an obligation prior to invoking the power of sale is not only 

enoneous but clouds an already confusing area of law. Pursuant to the 

Comt's decision, lenders may note defaults and trustee's sales and then 

abandon foreclosure effmis for,Aecades with impunity, tying up the 

borrower's credit and hamstringing the borrower's future. Under the 

decision, lenders may evade the statute of limitations for decades, even 

though the statute of limitations is intended to force claims to be promptly 

litigated. More problematic, the ruling allows lenders to take more than 30 

years to act, while being able to foreclose and claim the entire balance at 

any point, without ever accelerating an obligation. 
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This result is contradicted not only by common-sense but also by 

the language in the operating documents, the governing statutes, case law 

and persuasive authority. This Court should take up the Court of Appeals' 

decision for review because clarity is needed in this area. This published 

decision will unnecessarily complicate transactions between lenders and 

borrowers facing default and forcClosme. T11is decision opens the door to 

subsequent claims against lenders by borrowers. 

As discussed herein, this Comi should accept review because this 

case presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be 

determined by this Court and the Court of Appeals' opinion does nothing 

but cloud already problematic issues.