# RECEIVED

OCT 1 0 2016

No. 93556-4

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

4518 S. 256th LLC,

Appellant

v.

KAREN L. GIBBON, P.S., Trustee; RECONTRUST, N.A, Trustee; MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC. ("MERS") acting as nominee for COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, INC., a Beneficiary; THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON f/k/a THE BANK OF NEW YORK, as Trustee for the certificateholders of the CWABS, Inc. Asset-backed Certificates, Series 2006-7,

## Respondents

ON APPEAL FROM DIVISION I OF THE COURT OF APPEALS (NO. 73834-8-I)

# RESPONDENTS MERS AND BONY'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

### I. INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(d), Respondents BONY and MERS<sup>1</sup> respectfully submit this answer to Appellant 4518 S. 256<sup>th</sup> LLC's ("Appellant") Petition for Discretionary Review.

Appellant's Petition contends that the Supreme Court must accept discretionary review of this case because the issue substantially affects the public interest. BONY and MERS disagree. This matter presents factually unique circumstances and is in fact a lingering relic of the 2008/2009 financial crisis. As such, a repetition of this factual pattern is highly unlikely. Equally unlikely is the risk of future borrowers being confused or uncertain because of the Court of Appeals' decision (as Appellant contends). Thus, the Petition for Review should be denied.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For the purposes of this motion practice, BONY and MERS are satisfied by the statement of the case laid out in Appellant's Petition.

BONY and MERS reserve the right to present a more complete factual recitation in the event the Court accepts review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "BONY" is Respondent The Bank of New York Mellon f/k/a The Bank of New York, as Trustee for the certificateholders of the CWABS, Inc., Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2006-7.

<sup>&</sup>quot;MERS" is Respondent Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc.

# III. ARGUMENT AGAINST DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

## A. <u>Legal Standard</u>

The Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure provide that the following considerations govern whether the Supreme Court will accept a petition for review:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

Here, Appellant contends that review should be accepted on the basis of a substantial public interest.<sup>2</sup> Thus, while Appellant certainly disagrees with the Court of Appeals ruling, it does not contend that the ruling is in conflict with any binding authority.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pet. p. 20.

# B. The Public Interest Will Not be Served By Accepting Review of this Factually Unique Case.

The overwhelming bulk of Appellant's Petition is devoted to arguing with the reasoning of the Court of Appeals in affirming the trial court's ruling. Despite this, Appellant does not contend that the Court of Appeal's ruling conflicts with one of its own rulings or a ruling of this Court. BONY and MERS will not reargue the appeal here – their position on the merits of the case is fully set forth in their appellate briefing and the transcript of oral argument.

Rather, Appellant contends that this Court must accept appeal because the public interest requires it. Specifically, Appellant contends that the current ruling will allow lenders to "abandon foreclosure efforts for decades with impunity" and to "evade the statute of limitations for decades."

These arguments ignore the fact that no secured lender has an incentive to abandon both payment and collateral for any extended length of time. Indeed, an in-default borrower whose lender opts not to foreclose would receive a benefit in that they continue to have title to and possession of the property despite their non-payment. As to Appellant's position that a 36-year statute of limitations is unfair, BONY and MERS

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> *Id*.

point out that the loan at issue was a 30-year mortgage.<sup>4</sup> This loan required payments in year one, year six, year 17, and year 30 – indeed, in every year during the life of the loan. Thus, it only makes sense that a lenders action to enforce the loan might accrue in year one, year six, year 17, and year 30 or during any year during the life of the loan, with a lawsuit to be filed six years later.

Moreover, the uniqueness of the facts presented here dramatically undercuts Appellant's contention that the matter affects the public interest. In order for the public interest to be affected, Appellant would have to demonstrate that there are other borrowers in Appellant's same circumstances who could benefit from the ruling. That is, Appellant would need to show the existence of other borrowers who had an uncompleted foreclosure without explicit acceleration over six years ago. Appellant has failed to show a significant number of borrowers in similar circumstances. Despite the fact that Washington property records are freely searchable online, Appellant presents no such information to the Court. Indeed, the foreclosure history of this loan is a product of the 2008/2009 foreclosure crisis, during which the foreclosure process was stayed or discontinued for many in-default loans. It is now 2016, seven to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> CP 107-108.

eight years removed from those unfortunate events. To the extent that any other loans might have been in the same situation as the loan at issue here, the chance that statute of limitations-based litigation will arise regarding such loans diminishes with each passing day.

To the extent there was any public interest in the result of this appeal, Appellant has failed to show that such interest was ever actually substantial. In any event, any interest decreases as time goes on because we move farther and farther away from the 2008/2009 foreclosure crises.

## IV. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case was correct and it does not conflict with any other Washington appellate decisions. The public interest is not affected by this case due to the unique factual posture. Thus, the Appellant has not satisfied any of the RAP 13.4(b) and its Petition for Review should be denied.